THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

SEP 24 2014

Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 12-CP-23-6195
Court of Appeals Tracking No.: 2014-000150

Canal Insurance Company,.....Appellant,

v.

National House Movers, L.L.C.;
Kevin E. Jones; David Black;
Ron Hewes; and Brent Jones.....Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Barrow
William R. Calhoun, Jr.
Sweeny Wingate & Barrow, P.A.
Post Office Box 12129
Columbia, SC 29211
803-256-2233

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Court err in holding that Kevin Jones was a “temporary employee” rather than an “employee” of National House Movers and, thus, find coverage where there is none under the facts of the underlying accident?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Employment of Kevin Jones

The genesis of this action is found in the employment of Kevin E. Jones by National House Movers, LLC (“NHM”). Ron Hewes was the member of NHM who did the hiring and directly supervised Jones.. He was the only person at NHM who had authority to hire workers. Dep. of Hewes, pp. 8, line 23 - 11, line 7; R. 85, line 23 – 88, line 7; Dep. of Brent Jones (the Rule 30(b)(6) deponent for NHM), pp. 18, line 2 - 19, line 8; R. 111, line 2 – R. 112, line 8. Employment in NHM was on a project-by-project basis. The simple protocol for being hired at NHM required a potential employee to be interviewed by Hewes. Dep. of Hewes, p. 14, lines 8-15; R. 91, lines 8-15. David Johnson, the person who contacted Kevin Jones on behalf of NHM and himself an employee of NHM, did *not* have authority to hire people. *Id.*, p. 14, lines 8-10; R. 91, lines 8-10..

The accident upon which this action is based occurred on February 2, 2012, in Gaffney, South Carolina. At the time, NHM had five employees, including Hewes, engaged in the moving of a house. Dep. of Hewes, pp. 38, line 15 – 39, line 8; R. 104, line 15 - R. 105, line 8. In connection with the job, Hewes “needed a grunt to haul blocks,” *id.*, p. 14, lines 4-5; R. 91, lines 4-5, so he asked a partner in NHM, Fred Najim, to contact David Johnson. Dep. of Hewes, pp. 11, line 8 – 12, line 11; R. 88, line 8 – 89, line 11. Johnson had worked on NHM projects for years. Dep.. of Hewes, p. 12, lines 12-21; R. 89, lines 12-21; Dep. of K. Jones, p. 52, lines 2-18;

R. 124, lines 2-18. Johnson asked Hewes if he needed any more help for the job, and Hewes replied that, “one more probably wouldn’t hurt.” Dep. of Hewes, p. 13, lines 24-25; R. 90, lines 24-25. Johnson, however, did *not* have authority to hire personnel for NHM. Id., p. 14, lines 8-10; R. 91, lines 8-10. Johnson called Jones and “asked me [Jones] did I want to help.” Dep. of K. Jones, p. 8, lines 7- 13; R. 118, lines 7-13. Jones said that he did want to help. Id. So Johnson, a friend whom Jones had known for several years, Dep. of K. Jones, pp. 22, line 22 – 23, line 5; R. 122, line 22 –R. 123, line 5, came and picked him up and took him to the job site. Id., p. 8, lines 9 – 10; R. 118, lines 9-10.

Mr. Hewes testified as follows about NHM’s hiring of Kevin Jones:

- Q. ...Mr. Jones didn’t come to you through a temporary agency did he?
A. No, sir.
Q. He was brought to you for you to determine if you wanted to hire him from...
David Johnson. David Johnson, right?
A. Uh-huh. Yes.

Dep. of Hewes, p. 35, lines 6-12; R. 103, lines 6-12. It is undisputed that Johnson suggested and recommended Jones for employment. However, nothing in the record evidences that Johnson had any authority or control over Jones’ employment with NHM.

II. The Underlying Accident

Jones, after being hired by Hewes, was assigned by NHM to assist in moving a house that was being relocated by stationing himself on the roof of the moving house. His mission was to facilitate the sliding of cable wires and telephone wires over the roof as the house moved; after being put in motion, the wire should slide on its own. Jones was thereafter supposed to ensure that the wire did not get snagged on anything on the roof, such as a shingle. Dep. of Hewes, p. 25, lines 3–25; R. 94, lines 3-25; p. 28, line 21- p. 29, line 18; R. 97, line 21 – 98, line 18.. Jones was supposed to sit on the roof at the lower corner of the house and, if he saw a non-electrical wire

about to be snagged, he was to pick up a piece of PVC pipe placed on the roof as a “scoop” to facilitate the wire’s moving across the roof, and nudge the wire to get it started moving. Id., p. 31, lines 6-19; R. 100, lines 6-19. If a non-electrical wire did not get snagged, Jones was to stay in his position at the lower corner of the house. Id. He was instructed by Hewes not to touch an electrical power line, id., p. 29, line 3 – 30, line 20; R. 98, line 3- 99, line 20. Hewes, walking in front of the very slow-moving truck, Id., p. 39, lines 1-2, R. 105, lines 1-2, would alert him to electrical power wires. Id., p. 30, lines 21-23; R. 99, lines 21-23.

On the day of the accident, the house, on dollies hooked to a truck, approached a pair of wires, one neutral and one electrical. The electrical wire was above the roof of the house by 2.5 or 3 feet, but the neutral wire had a lot of slack and Jones took the PVC pipe to push that wire. Instead of pushing the neutral wire, Jones started flipping it, unnecessarily, to facilitate its movement. Id., p. 31, line 20 – 32, line 18; R. 100, line 20 – R. 101, line 18. He had been instructed to leave it alone. Id., p. 32, lines 19-22; R. 101, lines 19-22.

Hewes walked to the side of the house and saw the neutral wire come down on the backside. He testified that the electrical wire was “a good [five or six] feet” above the neutral wire, so when the neutral wire cleared the house he believed that the house was clear of both wires. Id., pp. 32, line 25 – 33, line 7; R. 101, line 25 – 102, line 7. He did not see the accident, id., p. 33, lines 9 – 12; R. 102, lines 9-12, and does not understand how it happened. Id. There appear to be no eyewitnesses to Mr. Jones’ accident, but it is believed that he must have been near the peak of the house and raised his arm, resulting in his coming in contact with, or into close proximity to, the electrical wire by which he was injured.

III. NHM’s Insurance Policy

Canal Insurance Company (“Canal”) issued to NHM an insurance policy covering the period 3/18/2011 to 3/18/2012 (the “Policy”). R. 39-83. The Policy consisted of three coverage parts: commercial automobile; commercial general liability (“CGL”); and inland marine. It is undisputed that the commercial automobile policy is the only coverage part that is applicable to this case. No claim has been made under any other part and the CGL policy specifically excludes coverage for “ ‘[b]odily injury’ ... arising out of the ... use ... of any ... ’ auto’ .”

The pertinent provisions of Canal’s commercial auto policy are as follows:

SECTION II – LIABILITY COVERAGE

A. Coverage

We will pay all sums an “insured” legally must pay as damages because of “bodily injury” or “property damage” to which this insurance applies, caused by an “accident” and resulting from the ownership, maintenance or use of a covered “auto”.... R.62.

B. Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to any of the following:

3. Workers’ Compensation

Any obligation for which the “insured” or the “insured’s insurer May be held liable under any workers’ compensation, disability benefits of unemployment compensation law or similar law.

4. Employee Indemnification and Employer’s Liability

“Bodily injury” to:

a. An “employee” of the “insured” arising out of and in the course of:

- (1) Employment by the “insured”; or
- (2) Performing the duties related to the conduct of the “insured’s” business; or...

R.63.

DEFINITIONS

F. “Employee” includes a “leased worker.” **“Employee” also includes any individual, other than an employer, who is employed by an employer and who in the course of his or her employment directly affects commercial motor vehicle safety.** Such term includes a driver of a commercial motor vehicle

(including an independent contractor while in the course of operating a commercial motor vehicle), a mechanic, and a freight handler. **”Employee” does not include a “temporary worker”** (emphasis added) R.70.

O. “Temporary worker” means a person **who is furnished to you** to substitute for a permanent “employee” on leave or to meet seasonal or short-term workload conditions. “Temporary worker” does not include a driver of a motor vehicle in your business (emphasis added) R. 71.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jones initiated a tort action against NHM on June 26, 2012. Canal defended NHM in that action under a full reservation of rights. On September 26, 2012, Canal initiated the action for declaratory judgment that has resulted in this appeal. The Defendants were NHM, Kevin Jones, David Black, Ron Hewes, Brent Jones and Fred Najim. Canal and the Defendants conducted discovery, including depositions, some of which are cited herein. All the cited depositions were put in evidence at the trial of this matter. Transcript, p. 45; R.38.

On December 12, 2013, Kevin Jones entered into a Covenant Not to Execute with the individual defendants in both the tort and the coverage actions. Thereafter, in this coverage action, Plaintiff and the remaining two defendants, NHM and Jones, moved seasonably for summary judgment as to the issue of whether there was insurance coverage. The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, denied both motions for summary judgment. The declaratory action was tried in a bench trial before the Honorable Edward W. Miller on November 21, 2013. Judge Miller filed his Order on December 30, 2013. It held that Jones was a “temporary employee,” thereby granting coverage to NHM. Canal’s appeal is of that Order. R.6.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appears to be an issue of first impression in South Carolina regarding the construction of the term, "temporary worker," in a CGL or commercial auto insurance policy, which is an issue of law. This Court has held:

"A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue." *Felts v. Richland County*, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991). "An issue essentially one at law, will not be transformed into one in equity simply because declaratory relief is sought." *Id.* In South Carolina, an insurance policy is a contract between the insured and the insurance company, and the terms of the policy are to be construed according to contract law. *Estate of Revis by Revis v. Revis*, 326 S.C. 470, 476, 484 S.E.2d 112, 115 (Ct.App.1997). "Contract actions are actions at law." *Hofer v. St. Clair*, 298 S.C. 503, 508, 381 S.E.2d 736, 739 (1989).

Cook v. State Farm Auto. Ins. Co., 376 S.C. 426, 429, 656 S.E.2d 784, 786 (Ct. App. 2008).

Our Supreme Court has held that *de novo* review will be accorded all issues of law, with the appellate court "free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the trial court."

Menezes v. WL Ross & Co., LLC, 403 S.C. 522, 530, 744 S.E.2d 178, 182 (2013) (footnote omitted).

II. JONES IS NOT A "TEMPORARY WORKER" BECAUSE THE POLICY INTENDS THAT THE THIRD PARTY FURNISHING THE "TEMPORARY WORKER" MUST BE AN ORGANIZATION IN THE BUSINESS OF PROVIDING SUCH WORKERS.

A major issue before this court, as before the trial court, is whether Jones was "furnished to" NHM. The trial court, which did not find the phrase ambiguous, as advocated by Respondents, held that the term meant that the employee had to be furnished by a third party. However, the trial court erroneously held that Johnson's recommendation of Jones for employment met the Policy's requirement that Jones be "furnished to" NHM.

The Policy, as quoted above, contains definitions of “employee” and “temporary worker.” The Policy excludes coverage for NHM’s employees. It defines “employee” to include a “leased worker,” but states specifically that, “‘Employee’ does not include a ‘temporary worker.’” R.70. The Policy definition of “temporary worker” is “a person who is furnished to you to substitute for a permanent ‘employee’ on leave or to meet seasonal or short-term workload conditions.” It is undisputed that Jones was hired by NHM to meet “short-term workload conditions.” The disputed issue is whether he was “furnished to” NHM.

The phrase “furnished to you” is standard wording in Insurance Services Office (“ISO”) policies covering commercial general and commercial auto liability. The words were added by ISO in 1993. As stated by the Missouri Court of Appeals in construing the same phrase in a CGL policy:

The CGL policy containing the employee exclusion and policy definition are on a form copyrighted by the Insurance Services Office, Inc. (ISO). Until 1993, the ISO standard form CGL policy did not define “employee.” In 1993, the definitions of “employee,” “leased employee” and “temporary worker” were added to the ISO standard form CGL policy **to cover the non-traditional employment relationship where a client company is using the services of employees of a staffing company.** Jack P. Gibson, et al., Int’l Risk Mgmt. Inst., Inc., 1 *Commercial Liability Insurance*, Sections V.L. .9–.10, .22, .50 (Jan. 2002). This addition included “leased employees” within the definition of “employee” but excluded “temporary workers.”

American Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Tickle, 99 S.W.3d 25, 30 (Mo. Ct. App. 2003). (emphasis added); *See also*, Central Mut. Ins. Co. v. True Plastics, Inc., 992 N.E.2d 385, 389 (Mass. Ct. App. 2013) (same); General Agents Ins. Co. of America v. Mandrill Corp., 243 Fed. Appx. 961, 967 (6th Cir. 2007) (temporary worker definition added “to address a distinction made by several states’ workers compensation statutes...temporary employees...are considered to remain employees of the temporary staffing agency.”).

ISO's intention, in using the phrase, "furnished to you," was that it would apply in situations in which companies in the business of providing temporary workers – and who would provide workers' compensation for them – provided such a worker to the insured. In this case, it is conceded that Jones was not furnished by a staffing company. As such, the trial court erred in finding for Respondents.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IGNORING THE MAJORITY POSITION THAT "FURNISHED TO YOU" MEANS THAT THE EMPLOYEE MUST BE FURNISHED BY A THIRD PARTY ENTITY THAT SUPPLIES LABOR.

The Trial Court evidently misunderstood the majority position on this issue. It was correct in joining the "vast majority of the courts" that have "concluded that the phrase 'who is furnished to you' requires third party involvement." Lafayette Ins. Co. v. Roberts, 2013 WL 3961173 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2013). *See*, Order, p. 4; R.4. The Court was incorrect, however, in stating that, "[o]nly a few courts have construed the definition of 'furnished' to require involvement of a temporary service as argued by Canal." Order, p. 5; R.5.

In Northland Casualty Company v. Meeks, 540 F.3d 869, 876-77(8th Cir. 2008) (citing AMCO Ins. Co. v. Dorpinghaus, 2007 WL 313280 at *4 (D. Minn. 2007)), the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals held that, "a worker is not furnished to an insured unless a third party – typically a staffing agency – has been involved in providing or supplying the worker to the insured." The Northland Court also cites nine other cases following the quoted citation from AMCO.¹ The Trial Court, therefore, erroneously believed that it was ruling

¹ *See* Northland, 540 F.3d at 876-77 citing Gavan v. Bituminous Cas. Corp., 242 S.W.3d 718, 721 (Mo.2008); Gen. Agents Ins. Co. of Am., Inc. v. Mandrill Corp., 243 Fed. Appx. 961, 967-68 (6th Cir.2007) (unpublished) (opinion of Kennedy, J.); Carl's Italian Rest. v. Truck Ins. Exch., 183 P.3d 636, 639-40 (Colo.Ct.App.2007), *cert. denied*, No. 08SC23, 2008 WL 2008622 (Colo. May 12, 2008) (en banc); Nautilus Ins. Co. v. Gardner, 2005 WL 664358, at *6-7; Brown v. Ind. Ins. Co., 184 S.W.3d 528, 537-40 (Ky.2005); Monticello Ins. Co. v. Dion, 65 Mass. App. Ct. 46, 836 N.E.2d 1112, 1115 (2005); Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Allen, 83 Conn. App. 526, 850 A.2d 1047, 1057 (2004); Am. Family Mut., 99 S.W.3d at 30-31.

consistently with the majority of courts in holding that Jones' co-worker "furnished" him to NHM.

AMCO Insurance Company. v. Dorpinghaus, *supra.*, is quite similar to the case *sub judice*. In that case, Steven Dorpinghaus, operating as Dorpinghaus Construction, undertook to build a home and hangar garage. He reached an agreement with his son, Tony, to help with the framing. Tony, knowing that he could not frame the buildings by himself, called a close friend, Richie, to assist with the framing. Richie spoke directly with Steven about the terms and payment for the work. A mutual friend of Tony and Richie, Tommy, heard about the project and asked if he could work on it. Steven agreed and informed Tommy how much he would be paid.

Tony, Richie and Tommy were working on the project when the scaffolding on which they were standing collapsed. All three suffered serious injuries. Dorpinghaus Construction was insured by AMCO Insurance Company. The pertinent language in the AMCO policy regarding temporary workers "furnished to" the insured is identical to that in the Canal policy at issue.

AMCO filed an action for declaratory judgment to determine whether its policy provided coverage for the three young men's injuries. At the summary judgment stage, after reviewing the precedent from many jurisdictions, the court granted summary judgment to AMCO on the key issue of whether Tony, Richie and Tommy were "temporary employees." It accepted AMCO's interpretation because it was the only one that gave "meaning to all of the words of the policy." 2007 WL 313280 at *5. Tony argued that he provided himself to his father, but the District Court held that precedent did not support that conclusion.² Rather, a third party was required.

² One of the cases relied on by Tony and the other Defendants, American Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. As One, Inc., 189 S.W.3d 194, 198 (Mo. Ct. App. 2006) has been overruled by Gavan v. Bituminous Casualty Corp., 242 S.W.3d 718 (Mo. 2008), which held that a person could not furnish himself to work for an insured and that membership in a union, moreover, does not cause the union to "furnish" a worker to an employer.

Moreover, the District Court held that *not just anyone* could be a third-party who *furnished* an employee to an employer. Regarding Richie and Tommy, they court held as follows:

Anticipating that this Court might agree with the majority of courts that a worker must be furnished to an insured by a third party to qualify as a temporary worker for purposes of the CGL policy, Richie and Tommy argue that *Tony* furnished them to Dorpinghaus Construction. Richie and Tommy are contradicted by their own testimony and by common sense. *Tony was not in the business of supplying workers to others*; he was instead employed by Meats, Meals and More, another of his father's businesses. And neither Richie nor Tommy had ever worked for Tony, making it difficult for Tony to furnish them to anyone. Not surprisingly, then, Richie and Tommy negotiated the terms of their arrangements directly with Steven Dorpinghaus....Neither accepted the job before speaking to Steven Dorpinghaus....*No reasonable jury could find that Tony "furnished" Richie and Tommy to his father.*

AMCO Ins. Co. v. Dorpinghaus, 2007 WL 313280, *7 (D. Minn. 2007) (italics added).

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals has also addressed a case in which a friend asserted that she "furnished" a temporary employee. Borntreger v. Smith, 811 N.W.2d 447 (Wis. Ct. App. 2012). The Smiths, who operated a farm, wanted to hire a temporary worker. A young woman who was employed by the Smiths "introduced" and "recommended" Borntreger, who was the young woman's boyfriend. He drove the young woman back and forth to the Smith's farm. The court held that her actions did not amount to her furnishing Borntreger as a temporary worker. It held that Borntreger was, therefore, an employee and the "'employee' exclusion was applicable." 811 N.W.2d at 451.

Support for the majority position is also found in the Spring/Summer, 2010, issue of Tort Trial & Insurance Practice Law Journal in an article entitled, "The Law of 'Leased Worker' and 'Temporary Worker'," written by Stephen P. Perlmutter, a trial lawyer with over 35 years' experience. R. 129-77 Mr. Perlmutter summarized various legal positions on the phrase, "furnished to you," and gives a chronological discussion of both the majority and minority lines of cases. His summary was is follows:

A. *Furnished to: Does It Require the Injured Worker to be Provided to the Client Company by a Third-Party Employment-Type Business?*

The majority of cases that have applied the employer's liability exclusion to deny coverage have done so by finding that the worker was not "furnished to" the insured client company, as is required by the CGL policy's definition of *temporary worker*. These cases, therefore, generally do not reach the issue of whether the worker was furnished to "substitute for a permanent employee on leave or to meet seasonal or short-term workload conditions." However, the courts are in disagreement about the meaning of the "furnished to" requirement in the definition of *temporary worker*. **The majority line of cases holds that to be a temporary worker, the worker must be furnished to the client company by an employment-type agency.** The minority line of cases finds no requirement that the temporary worker be furnished to the client company by such a business.

Tort Trial & Insurance Practice Law Journal, Spring/Summer 2010 (45:3-4) p. 766 (emphasis added)R. 134.

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