RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

NOV 07 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

In the Supreme Court

CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Joseph F. Anderson, United States District Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001540

Government Employees Insurance Company.....Plaintiff,

v.

Jack A. Poole, individually and as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Jennifer Knight Poole.....Defendants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

November 7, 2017

Angela Christy Tyner, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 71634
Ronald A. Maxwell, Sr., Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 3697
Maxwell Law Firm, P.C.
P.O. Box 1115
Aiken, SC 29802
(803) 641-6700
Attorneys for Defendants

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

ARGUMENT

The Pooles seek a punitive damage award due to the wanton, willful, and malicious behavior of the at fault driver, Christopher Davis, who was driving under the influence when he hit them head on. The Pooles are not attempting to convert the split-limits policy into a single limits policy as GEICO claims. Nor are they asking that a hospital bill be paid out of the property damage coverage, but are asking that their punitive damages claims be paid by any and all available coverage. S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-30(4) simply defines damages as both actual and punitive damages. Whereas the legislature obviously intended for individuals to recover punitive awards on both bodily injury and property damage claims, nowhere has the legislature defined punitive damages as bodily injury or property damage for the purposes of insurance coverage or otherwise. To do so would be absurd as it would ignore the purpose of punitive damages.

Awards of punitive damages do not need to be allocated in a pro rata share to protect due process or public policy. The American jury system is rooted in a process that began in medieval England and has been shaped over the course of American history. The shaping of the system with time places jurors in the best situation to make important decisions regarding legal matters.

Special verdict forms are used to distinguish actual and punitive damages. Public policy is violated when the intent of a jury's punitive damage award is not effectuated due to the apportionment between bodily injury and property damage. Measures to protect due process and prevent excessive punitive awards will need to be completed regardless of apportionment and therefore GEICO's due process argument fails.

I. Insurance coverage for punitive damages is a statutory creation and the coverage must be applied according to the statutory scheme.

The Pooles do not disagree with the supposition that punitive damages are a statutory creation, but strongly disagree with GEICO's interpretation of how to apply punitive damages to a split-limits policy. The fact that South Carolina law prescribes certain minimum limits for automobile liability insurance does not require that where both bodily injury and property damage are caused by the willful and reckless misconduct of a tortfeasor that any punitive damage award be allocated proportionally between the available bodily injury and property damage coverages. Rather, to do so would permit the carrier to impermissibly reduce the coverage afforded, and avoid the clear mandate of South Carolina Code Section 38-77-30(4) which defines the term "damages" to include both "actual and punitive damages." Regarding arbitrations of property damage liability claims, South Carolina Code Section 38-77-710 provides for an award of actual and punitive damages. Whereas the legislature obviously intended for individuals to recover punitive awards on both bodily injury and property damage claims, nowhere has the legislature defined punitive damages as bodily injury or property damage for the purposes of insurance coverage or otherwise. To do so would be absurd as it would ignore the purpose of punitive damages.

GEICO's reliance on S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-140 as evidence the legislature intended for punitive damages to be apportioned is misguided as no such intent is clearly defined within the statutes. Furthermore S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-20 says "this chapter is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purposes." The purpose of Title 38 is clearly found in S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-10 which states "in order to effect a complete reform of automobile insurance and insurance practices in South Carolina, the purposes of this chapter are to provide: (1) that every automobile insurance risk which is insurable on the basis of the criteria established in this chapter is entitled to automobile insurance...". To narrowly construe South Carolina statutes as GEICO is attempting to do actually contradicts S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-10(1) by attempting to limit the amount of available coverage provided to insure for punitive damages.

Despite the lack of any statutory or other guidance recommending it, GEICO contends that there is only one way to comply with the statutory requirement for minimum limits, and that one way is to proportionally allocate punitive damages between bodily injury and property damage coverage. Respectfully, the Pooles submit there is only one way to apply the statutory scheme: Where bodily injury has been caused by the willful, wanton and reckless conduct of a tortfeasor as will support an award of punitive damages, those damages should be covered up to the limits of the available coverage; where property damage has been caused by the willful, wanton and reckless conduct of a tortfeasor as will support an award of punitive damages, those damages should be covered up to the limits of the available coverage; and where both bodily injury and property damages have been caused by the willful, wanton and reckless conduct of the tortfeasor such as will support an award of punitive damages, both actual and punitive damages should be covered up to the limits of all of the available coverage. Clearly, by the terms of the contract, the amounts available to cover the actual bodily injury and property damages will be limited by that

purchased, but as both bodily injury and property damage coverages include punitive damages, the award of punitive damages should be covered up to the limits of the policy. This simplistic approach honors both South Carolina's statutes and the terms of the contract.

The legislative intent to protect drivers and passengers in South Carolina in automobile collisions is uncontradicted. S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-140 requires drivers to have liability and uninsured coverage. This code section lays out the minimum amounts of coverage drivers are required to purchase to be legally insured in South Carolina. The legislature was thoughtful and specific in identifying the minimum requirements necessary to protect individuals. The legislature obviously thought uninsured and underinsured were so important that S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-350 lists requirements that must be made by insurers to insureds to make certain that insureds are aware that they may purchase additional coverage to protect themselves from harm. If the insurer fails to properly complete the form, then the insured is automatically provided uninsured and underinsured coverage up to their limits of liability coverage to ensure they are fully protected. It is absurd to reason that the legislature put such great importance on individuals being insured and fully protected from harm, only to then reduce that coverage by apportioning punitive damages on a pro rata basis between bodily injury and property damage. *Black's Law Dictionary* defines punitive damages as "damages awarded in addition to actual damages when the defendant acted with recklessness, malice, or deceit. Punitive damages, which are intended to punish and thereby deter blameworthy conduct..." Nowhere are punitive damages defined in relation to either bodily injury or property damage because clearly that is not the purpose or measure of punitive damages.

South Carolina case law supports the Pooles' position that when legislative intent is clear, as it is here, it is not the Court's place to change the intent of the statute. Clearly the legislature intended for individuals on the roadways of South Carolina to be insured and protected.

*The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993). Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. In re Vincent J., 333 S.C. 233, 509 S.E.2d 261 (1998) (citations omitted). Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning. *Id.* at 233, 509 S.E.2d at 262 (citing Paschal v. State Election Comm'n, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995)). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." Norman J. Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992).*

GEICO is asking the Court to add terms to the statutory language to suit its purpose of financial gain and not the stated purpose of the legislature, which is to protect South Carolinians on our roadways. GEICO argues that their interpretation of apportionment is the only way to stay true to the terms of the split-limits policy. However, it is settled law that when the contract language is clear and unambiguous, "the language alone determines the contract's force and effect and courts must construe it according to its plain, ordinary, and popular meaning." *Gray v State Farm Auto Ins. Co.*, 327 S.C. 646, 650, 491 S.E.2d 272, 274 (Ct. App. 1997). GEICO wrote the policy that is the basis for the underlying Declaratory Judgment action and now they expect the Court to contort South Carolina statutes to their benefit so that they do not have to pay monies on claims for which they are legally and contractually bound to pay. The only way to stay true to the

intent of the lawmakers of South Carolina is to reject GEICO's argument and allow punitive damages to be paid from any and all available coverages.

II. Apportionment of punitive damages award on a pro rata basis is not necessary to faithfully apply the terms of the insurance contract.

GEICO argues that awards of punitive damages must be apportioned between bodily injury and property damage in order to comply with the policy. GEICO wrote the policy that insured the Pooles in the underlying case and are bound by its terms.

An insurance policy is a contract between the insured and the insurance company, and the policy's terms are to be construed according to the law of contracts. Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Rollison, 378 S.C. 600, 606, 663 S.E.2d 484, 487 (2008) (citation omitted). "Where the contract's language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract's force and effect." McGill v. Moore, 381 S.C. 179, 185, 672 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009) (citation omitted). "Courts must enforce, not write, contracts of insurance, and their language must be given its plain, ordinary[,] and popular meaning. Sloan Constr. Co. v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co. of Omaha, 269 S.C. 183, 185, 236 S.E.2d 818, 819 (1977) (citation omitted). Canal Ins. Co. v. Nat'l House Movers, LLC Appellate Case No. 2014-000150 Opinion No. 5353 (S.C. App., 2015).

GEICO drafted the policy, but failed to define punitive damages or how they should be paid. Yet, now when it would benefit them, GEICO attempts to take away coverage from insureds by changing the contract language and asking the Court to rewrite the contract of insurance to apportion punitive damages between bodily injury and property damage.

GEICO attempts to argue *Crossmann Communities of North Carolina, Inc. v. Harleystown Mutual Insurance Co.*, 395 S.C. 40, 717 S.E.2d 589 (2011) as a basis for allocation. *Crossmann* did not deal with an automobile insurance policy, but rather a commercial general liability policy. It is not a reasonable comparison given the completely different facts to compare the two. *Crossmann* dealt with apportioning a pro rata share of damages between different insurers based on coverage periods. “The court found the standard CGL policy require[s] that each insurer cover only that portion of a loss attributable to property damage that occurred during its policy period.” *Crossmann Cmty. of N.C., Inc. v. Harleystown Mut. Ins. Co.*, 411 S.C. 506, 769 S.E.2d 453 (S.C. App., 2015). GEICO’s attempt to compare *Crossmann* with the current matter is further proof that there is no law to support their theory of apportionment in automobile insurance cases dealing with punitive damages. Notably, the Court pointed out why such a pro rata scheme is not needed when dealing with automobile accidents.

Most liability policies are designed to respond to losses, such as automobile accidents, which occur instantaneously. Losses of this nature are relatively easy to identify because damages are both immediate and finite, and can be measured quite simply against the limits of the policy or policies in effect on the date of the accident. Id., 395 S.C. 40, 64, 717 S.E.2d 589, 601 (2011) (quoting *Boston Gas Co.*, 910 N.E.2d at 301 (quoting *William R. Hickman & Mary R. DeYoung, Allocation of Environmental Cleanup Liability Between Successive Insurers*, 17 N. Ky. L.Rev. 291, 292 (1990))).

GEICO’s proposed pro rata scheme is a solution in search of a problem, when the actual and punitive damages caused by a motor vehicle accident can simply be measured against the limits of the policy. The goal of vindicating the rights of the injured party and deterring similar conduct is

a separate concept from bodily injury or property damage and therefore should not be treated as such by apportioning punitive damages.

Furthermore, allocation does not favor the insured, but rather the insurer. Punitive damages, “in addition to punishing the defendant and deterring similar conduct by the defendant and others, serve to vindicate the private rights of the plaintiff and they provide some measure of compensation to plaintiffs for the intentional violation of those rights that is separate and distinct from the usual measure of compensatory damages.” *O’Neill v. Smith*, 388 S.C. 246 (2010). If punitive damages are distinct from the usual measure of compensatory damages treating them like compensatory damages due to a split-limits policy is contradictory to the meaning and purpose of punitive damages and we have failed to adequately punish the defendant, or more importantly, to protect the injured party.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina held that UIM coverage applies to punitive damage awards even when a covenant not to execute has been signed in *O’Neill v. Smith*, 388 S.C. 246 (2010). Just as liability insurance companies are responsible for the wrongdoing of their insured, including punitive damages, UIM carriers also bear the responsibility of paying punitive damages by way of the contract they have with their insured.

Under South Carolina law, carriers must offer UIM coverage up to the limits of the insured’s liability coverage. Plaintiffs accepted this offer and paid the corresponding premiums for coverage and are entitled to this contractual benefit. State Farm set its premiums with the knowledge that they are liable for compensatory and punitive damages under the insurance contract, and it cannot now be heard to complain that the delivery of benefits under the contract would thwart public policy. O’Neill v. Smith, 388 S.C. 246 (2010).

The Pooles purchased UIM coverage from GEICO, damages per South Carolina Statutes include punitive damages, and UIM carriers are responsible for punitive damage awards. GEICO attempts to argue that allocation is necessary to conform to the terms of the GEICO policy, but does not provide policy language as proof thereof. The GEICO policy does not include specific provisions for the allocation of punitive damages and they cannot attempt to write them in now because the policy contains split-limits coverage. "Terms of an insurance policy must be construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer." *McCraken v. Government Employees Ins. Co.*, 284 S.C. 66, 325 S.E.2d 62 (1985).

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